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This matter is before the Court on defendant's notion
for summary judgnment follow ng hearing. Plaintiff Cristin K
Genn filed a petition in the lowa District Court for Polk
County on April 19, 1999. She brings three causes of action
agai nst her fornmer enployer, Diabetes Treatnent Centers of
America, Inc. (DTCA): (1) violation of the lowa blacklisting
law, lowa Code 8 730.1 et seq.; (2) violation of the Ilowa
Conpetition Law, |Iowa Code §8 553.1 et seq.; and (3) a common | aw
claim of tortious interference with a prospective contractua
rel ati onshi p. Defendant renoved this action to federal court on
May 18, 1999.

Jurisdiction is predicated on 28 U.S.C. 88 1332(a) and
1441(b). The parties consented to proceed before a United States
Magi strate Judge and the case was referred to the undersigned
for all further proceedings on Cctober 22, 1999. See 28 U.S.C.

§ 636(c).



l.

Def endant's notion for summary judgnent is subject to
the follow ng well-established standards. A party is entitled
to summary judgnent only when the "pleadings, depositions,
answers to interrogatories, and adm ssions on file, together
with the affidavits, if any, showthat there is no genui ne i ssue
as to any material fact and that the noving party is entitled to

judgment as a matter of |aw Hel m Financial Corp. v. MVA

Railroad, Inc., 212 F.3d 1076, 1080 (8th Cir. 2000)(citing Fed.

R. Civ. P. 56(c)); accord Bailey v. USPS, 208 F.3d 652, 654 (8th

Cir. 2000). An issue of material fact is genuine if it has a

real basis in the record. Har t nagel v. Norman, 953 F.2d 394,

395 (8th Cir. 1992) (citing Matsushita Elec. lIndus. Co. V.

Zenith Radio Corp., 475 U S. 574, 586-87 (1986)). A genui ne

issue of fact is material if it "mght affect the outcone of the
suit under governing |l aw." Hartnagel, 953 F. 2d at 395 (quoti ng

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)); see

Rouse v. Benson, 193 F.3d 936, 939 (8th Cir. 1999).

I n assessing a notion for summary judgnment a court nust
determ ne whether a fair-mnded jury could reasonably return a
verdi ct for the nonnoving party based on the evidence presented.

Anderson, 477 U. S. at 248; Herring v. Canada Life Assurance Co.,

207 F.3d 1026, 1030 (8th Cir. 2000). The court rmust view the
facts in the |light nost favorable to the nonnoving party, and
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give that party the benefit of all reasonable inferences which

can be drawn from them Matsushita, 475 U S. at 587; accord

Lanbert v. City of Dumas, 187 F.3d 931, 934 (8th Cir. 1999);

Kopp v. Samaritan Health System Inc., 13 F.3d 264, 269 (8th

Cir. 1993). The court's function is not to weigh the evidence

and deternmne the truth of the matter, but to detern ne whether

there is a genuine issue neriting a trial. Gemels v. Tandy

Corp., 120 F.3d 103, 105 (8th Cir. 1997)(citing G ossman V.

Dillard Dep't Stores, Inc., 47 F.3d 969, 971 (8th Cir. 1995));

Johnson v. Enron Corp., 906 F.2d 1234, 1237 (8th Cr. 1990). A

conflict in the evidence ordinarily indicates a question of fact

to be resolved by the jury. Schering Corp. v. Hone Ins. Co.,

712 F.2d 4, 9 (2d Cir. 1983).
1.

Many of the facts are undi sputed though the inferences
and | egal conclusions to be drawn from them are argued by the
parties. What follows is a factual summary viewed favorably to
plaintiff.

Di abetes Treatnent Centers of Anerica, Inc. (DTCA)
entered into a three-year witten contract with Mercy Hospita
Medi cal Center (Mercy) in My 1994 to develop a diabetes
treatment program to be l|located on the Mercy canpus. The
di abetes treatnent program provided by DTCA consisted of both
i npati ent and out patient programs for individuals with di abetes.
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DTCA enployed six individuals, including a program director
program assi stant, three dieticians, and a di abetes case manager
at the Mercy | ocation.

Plaintiff Cristin K G enn comenced her enploynment
with DTCA on or about February 6, 1996, as a clinical dietician
wor ki ng at the Mercy location. G enn's enploynent with DTCA was
at-will. It does not appear from the summary judgnent record
that d enn signed any type of enploynent agreenent with DTCA

At the end of the initial three-year contract, Mercy
and DTCA agreed to renew and renegotiate the terns of the
contract between them On or about March 14, 1997 DTCA and Mercy
entered into an Anmended and Restatenent Agreenment. The new
contract extended the term of the contract for an additional
five-year period and established revised performance criteria
for DTCA. While DTCA continued to nmanage the program the new
contract provided for additional conpensation to DTCA and
prohi bited each party from recruiting or hiring the other's
enpl oyees. Specifically, the contract contained a recruitnment
provi sion as follows:

Recrui t ment of Enpl oyees:

(A) Hospital and DTCA acknow edge t hat each

party hereto has expended and will
continue to expend substantial tine,
effort and noney in training its
enpl oyees in the devel opnent and
enhancenent of the Hospital's Diabetes

Product Line. The enployees of each
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party hereto who wll provide the
Di abetes Product Line services at
Hospital will have access to and
possess Confidential |Information of
DTCA or Hospital. Therefore, DTCA and
Hospital nmutually agree not to directly
or indirectly solicit or hire w thout
prior witten approval of the other
party during the termof this Agreenent
any present enployee of the other
party; provided, however, the Hospital
agrees not to directly or indirectly
solicit or hire without prior witten
approval of DTCA during the term of
this Agreenent and for one year
foll owi ng t he expiration, or
term nation hereof any individual who
is enployed by DTCA during the term of
this agreenment as a program manager of
Hospital's Di abetes Product Line.

(B) Additionally, during the term of this
Agreenment Hospital and DTCA nutually
agree that in the event of the
resignation of any DTCA Specialty
Empl oyee of the Enployee's Diabetes
Product Line, with the exception of the
Program Manager, Hospital shall have
the option to directly hire any
repl acenent specialty enployee, as |ong
as such replacenent specialty enpl oyee
IS not the same individual who
resi gned.

(Ex. C - Anended and Restated Agreenment). Under the contract
Mercy was prohi bited fromenpl oyi ng any DTCA enpl oyee during the
life of the contract. The purpose the recruitnment provision was
to protect DTCA from Mercy raiding its enployees and
establishing its own programusing DTCA's proprietary practices,
procedures, and equi pment. denn did not see the contract and

was unaware of its particulars. (Ex. B, G enn Depo. at 13).



Al t hough DTCA continued to nmeet performance goal s and
criteria under the contract, Mercy requested a nodification to
it and in June 1998, DTCA prepared a contract anendnent,
i ncorporating the changes by Mercy. The anendnment was presented
to Mercy, but Mercy refused to execute the contract.
Subsequently, Mercy declared its dissatisfaction with DTCA' s
performance, and on or about Novenber 6, 1998, Mer cy
unilaterally attenpted to termnate its contract. At that tine
Mercy i nformed DTCA that all DTCA personnel would have to be off
Mercy prem ses by Novenmber 10, 1998, including plaintiff d enn.

DTCA notified its enployees that it was still in
negotiations with Mercy but that at the close of business on
Novenber 6 DTCA would renove itself from Mercy. (Ex. 3, G enn
Depo. at 28). Enployees were instructed not to report to work
until further notice. (lLd.)

Cont enporaneously with its attenmpt to termnate the
contract, Mercy filed a lawsuit in the lowa District Court for
Pol k County asking the court to declare that it had properly
termnated its contract with DTCA. DTCA counterclainmed for
damages. It was DTCA' s position that Mercy had no right to
termnate the contract and that Mercy was in breach by
attenpting to do so. At the time Mercy owed DTCA $221,000 in
past due nmanagenent fees; $48,000 in performance paynents; and
approxi mately $431, 000 per year in future paynments over the next
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three and one-half years. DTCA believed Mercy intended to run
the diabetes program using what DTCA alleged were its
proprietary practices, procedures and equi prment.

Thr oughout Novenber and into m d-Decenber 1998, DTCA
negotiated with Mercy in an attenpt to settle their disputes
and/ or renegoti ate the contract. Those negoti ati ons i ncl uded t he
possibility of a consulting arrangenent in which DTCA woul d
provi de di abetes consultation to Mercy and DTCA enpl oyees woul d
becone Mercy enpl oyees. By m d-Decenber 1998 negoti ations had
ceased and it was clear that further attenpts to sal vage any
relati onship between DTCA and Mercy would be futile. DTCA
explored the possibility of transferring its programto anot her
area hospital. This also proved unavaili ng.

During the period DTCA was still negotiating wth
Mercy, it continued to pay its enployees, including d enn.
d enn, however, did not perform any job functions for DTCA or
Mercy. On Decenmber 21, 1998, DTCA inforned its enpl oyees that
their last day of work with DTCA had been Wednesday, Novenber
11, 1998 and DTCA woul d be forced to term nate their enploynent
effective Decenber 31, 1998. d enn was paid through December 31
and was provided a severance package through January 1999.

The Executive Associate for Operations at Mercy, Jean
Doerge, has testified that following the term nation of the
DTCA- Mercy contract, Mercy i ntended to enpl oy DTCA personnel who
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had worked in the program (Ex. 4, Doerge Depo. at 22). Doerge
had been directed to obtain witten or verbal perm ssion from
DTCA prior to interviewing and hiring former enpl oyees of DTCA.
(1d. at 24). She received conflicting informati on that DTCA had
told its enployees it would not prohibit them from seeking
enpl oynment with Mercy, but also that DTCA had instructed Mercy
shoul d not contact its enployees. (ld. at 29; Ex. 5). Mercy's
counsel also contacted DTCA and informed it of Mercy's
willingness to hire DTCA's enpl oyees and requested approval to
do so. (Ex. 1). Approval was not forthcomng and late in
Novenmber and early December 1998 DTCA incorporated a waiver of
the recruitnment provision as a part of its proposed settl enment
of their dispute.

On Novenber 13, 1998, a "Clinical Dietitian" position
specifically related to di abetes care and treatnent was posted
at Mercy. (Ex. 4, Doerge Depo. Ex. 2). denn was one of four
enpl oyees who applied for the position on or about Novenmber 20,
1998. (Ex. 4, Doerge Depo. at 39). Mercy had a need for diabetes
educators and persons with denn's skill, and was interested in
securing "open access"” for G enn and the other DTCA enpl oyees to
Mercy's enpl oynment opportunities. (lLd. at 77-79). The reason
Mercy did not hire former DTCA enpl oyees, including Genn, was
because of the recruitnment provision in the contract between

DTCA and Mercy. (lLd. at 71).



In his affidavit DTCA regional vice-president Scott
Sivik states that at no tinme in Novenber or Decenber 1998 did he
tell denn that she was prohi bited or constrai ned fromresigning
her position with DTCA to becone enployed by Mercy. (Ex. A,
Sivik Aff. § 16). Genn has testified, however, that when he
first announced DTCA was vacating Mercy, Sivik, in response to
a question from d enn about whether they would be able to work
for Mercy if DTCA and Mercy did not straighten out their
difficulties, responded that he would not prevent them from
working for Mercy but he preferred they did not pursue
enpl oynment with Mercy, stating he was working on getting their
j obs back. (Ex. B, denn Depo. at 29). Later, when the dietician
j ob opening was posted, Sivik told denn that he would not
rel ease her to take the job. (Ex. 3, G enn Depo. at 45-48).

On Decenber 24, 1998 Mercy wote Genn that it had
received no new information from DTCA that "would allow us to
proceed with enmploynent at Mercy." (Ex. 6). Utimtely, Mercy
hired a non-DTCA person, Joanie Rainforth, for the position for
whi ch G enn applied. (Ex. 4, Doerge Depo. at 51). d enn had nore
rel evant experience than Rainforth and was qualified for the

job. (Ld. at 60-61,81).



L.
Genn's clainms, intheir various forms, ultimtely cone
down to the issue of whether DTCA unlawfully prevented her from
obt ai ni ng enpl oynent with Mercy.

A. Bl ackli sting

Genn's first claimis that DTCA violated the |owa
statute prohibiting blacklisting. She relies on |Iowa Code 88§
730.1 and 730.2 which provide:

730. 1 Puni shment .

If any person, agent, conpany, oOr
corporation, after having discharged any
enpl oyee from service, shall prevent or

attenmpt to prevent, by word or witing of
any kind, such discharged enployee from
obt ai ni ng enpl oynment with any other person,
conpany, or cor porati on, except by
furnishing in witing on request a truthful
statenent as to the cause of the person's
di scharge, such person, agent, conpany, or
corporation shall be guilty of a serious
m sdenmeanor and shall be Iliable for all
damages sustai ned by any such person.

730.2 Blacklisting enployees--treble
damages.

| f any rail way conpany or ot her conpany,
partnership, or corporation shall authorize
or allow any of its or their agents to
bl ackl i st any discharged enployee, or
attempt by word or witing or any other
means whatever to prevent such discharged
enpl oyee, or any enployee who may have
voluntarily left said conpany's service,
from obtaining enployment wth any other
person or conpany, except as provided for in
section 730.1, such conpany or copartnership
shall be liable in treble damages to such
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enpl oyee SO prevent ed from obtaining
enpl oynent .

The I owa bl acklisting | aw was enacted in 1888 and first codified
in McClain's Code 1888 at 88 5429-30. See Acts 1888 (22 G A)
ch. 57, 8 1. It has been little anended since. There are no
reported | owa cases which di scuss the statute substantively. In

French v. Foods, Inc., 495 N.W2d 768 (lowa 1993), the lowa

Suprene Court, referring to a related provision in chapter 730,
observed simply that the statute "involves blacklisting an
enpl oyee with a potential future enployer."” 1d. at 772. Statutes
of this type, which many states have,! came about in the late
ni neteenth century in response to the practice of certain
rail roads of "blacklisting” union organizers and uni on nenbers.

See Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc. v. Lockhart, 5 F. Supp.2d 667,

686 (S.D. Ind. 1998). As in lowa, blacklisting |aws have
attracted very little attention fromappell ate courts el sewhere.

There is not nmuch to guide the Court beyond the
| anguage of the statutory provisions (which nust be considered
together) and their evident purpose, but the elenents of a civil
action for blacklisting nonethel ess seem apparent. In this
case plaintiff npnust prove: (1) the defendant discharged

plaintiff; (2) thereafter, by word, witing or other means the

1 The state statutory provisions are listed in 48 Am Jur.
2d Labor and Labor Relations 8§ 669 at 422.23.
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def endant prevented or attenpted to prevent the plaintiff from
obtaining other enmploynent; (3) defendant acted wth the
predom nant purpose of preventing plaintiff from obtaining
future enploynent; and (4) defendant's conduct was a proxinmate
cause of damage to plaintiff. The first, second and fourth
el ements find expression in the statutory | anguage. The third,
t hat defendant nust have acted with the purpose of preventing
A enn from working, is inplicit from the statutory | anguage,
necessary to focus the law on the wong it addresses, and is
supported by rules of statutory construction.

First, by its nature blacklistingis purposeful conduct

intended to punish the victim See Black's Law Dictionary 7th

Ed. (defining "blacklist" as placement of a person's nane "on a
l'ist of those who are to be boycotted or punished"). "An intent
to injure by preventing future enploynent is the essence of the

of fense of blacklisting." State v. Dabney, 77 Okla. Crim P.

331, 141 P.2d 303, 308 (Ckla. Crim App. 1943); see Johnson v.

Oregon_ Stevedoring Co., 128 O. 121, 270 P. 772, 777 (1928).

See 48 Am Jur. 2d Labor and Labor Relations 8 669 at 422

(blacklisting is the publication of the name of a forner
enpl oyee "with the intent of preventing the enployee from
securing enploynment el sewhere"). Second, 8 730.1 is a crimnal
statute and, ordinarily, <crimnal statutes are strictly

construed. State v. Pace, 602 N.W2d 764, 771 (lowa 1999). On
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the civil side, while the blacklisting | aw provides a renmedy in
damages, it also inposes a penalty by trebling them which
inplies that the statute is directed at intentional m sconduct.
Intent is alsoinplicit inthe statutory | anguage descri bing the
wrong as words or witing to "prevent or attenpt to prevent

enpl oyment." lowa Code § 730.1. One does not ordinarily
prevent or attenpt to prevent sonething unintentionally. An
attenpt means to try to do something. See la. Crim J. |.
200.18. Finally, wthout the element of intent, a fornmer
enpl oyer could conceivably be exposed to treble damages for a
nm stake in providing information about a forner enployee to a
prospective enployer. Such a result would stray from the
original purpose of the |aw It is very unlikely the |owa
Suprenme Court after all these years would give an expansive
construction of the blacklisting |aw beyond what is conmonly
understood to constitute bl acklisting.

G enn contends there is a factual issue about when she
was di scharged, and argues she ceased to be an enpl oyee after
November 6, 1998, because she perfornmed no work for DTCA after
DTCA | eft Mercy on that date. DTCA' s refusal after Novenber 6 to
rel ease Mercy fromthe recruitnment provision so it could hire
her thus amobunted to bl acklisting. In the Court's judgnment, the
tenporal issue is determ ned not with reference to the point in
time G enn ceased to be an "enployee" under the traditional
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hor nbook concepts, (though the Court is inclined to believe she
did remain an enpl oyee after Novenber 6 since DTCA continued to
pay her and coul d have assigned work to her), but rather, the
poi nt at which DTCA acted to end the enpl oynent rel ationship. An
enpl oynment discharge is a termnation of enploynment by the
enpl oyer. The enployer's intent is controlling. Reasonable
jurors could not find plaintiff's discharge occurred prior to
Decenber 21, 1998, the date on which DTCA infornmed its enpl oyees
that their enploynment would end effective Decenber 31, 1998
Before then DTCA was attenpting to salvage sone type of
relationship with Mercy or negotiate a termnation of their
relationship, and maintained its staff in order to further these
obj ectives. denn conplains, not wthout reason, that she and
ot her enpl oyees were used as bargai ning chips with Mercy. But to
be a bargaining chip for DTCA G enn had to be a DTCA enpl oyee.
DTCA's reluctance to approve G enn's enploynent with Mercy and
settlement proposals to Mercy between Novenmber 6 and Decenber
21, 1998 are consistent with an intent by it to hold on to G enn
as an enployee and inconsistent with the idea that DTCA had
di scharged her.

The record does not reflect any post-di scharge words,
writing or other conduct by DTCA which the jury could concl ude
were for the purpose of preventing Genn from obtaining
enpl oynment with Mercy or el sewhere. The sunmmary judgnent record
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reflects only that on Decenber 24, 1998, Mercy wote G enn it
had received no new information from DTCA that would permt it
to enploy her. The blacklisting law did not inpose an
affirmative duty on DTCA to provide information. Mor eover, by
Decenmber 24 G enn knew that she would soon be discharged and
could have so informed Mercy. The recruitnent provision in the
contract between Mercy and DTCA did not prohibit Mercy from
hiring discharged enmpl oyees of DTCA.

For the reasons indicated, the notion for sumary
judgnment will be granted on G enn's blacklisting claim

B. | owa Conmpetition Law

Plaintiff's second cause of action against DTCA is
based on a violation of the lowa Conpetition Law. That statute
provides "[a] contract, conbination, or conspiracy between two
or nmore persons shall not restrain or nonopolize trade or
commerce in a relevant market." lowa Code 8 553.4. The statute
is to be construed "to conpl enment and be harnonized with" the
antitrust laws of the United States. |d. § 553.2. denn notes
that the lowa Supreme Court has upheld covenants not to conpete
bet ween an enpl oyee and enployer if reasonable in duration and
geogr aphi ¢ area, and argues the fact the enpl oyee is not a party
to a covenant not to hire or recruit |like that here shoul d make
t he covenant per se unreasonable or subject to a presunption of
unr easonabl eness.
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The typical covenant not to conpete in an enpl oynment

contract is a contract in restraint of trade. See Lenmmon V.

Hendri ckson, 559 N.W2d 278, 282 (lowa 1997)(to require forner

enpl oyee "may never solicit former custonmers constitutes an

unreasonabl e restraint of conpetition"); lowa G ass Depot, Inc.

v. Jindrich, 338 NW2d 376, 381 (lowa 1983)(outlining factors

to consider in determ ning whether "nonconpetitive agreenent is

unreasonably in restraint of trade"); Cogley Clinic v. Martini,

253 lowa 541, 546, 112 N.W2d 678, 681 (1962)(restrictive

covenants of enploynent "are in partial restraint of trade and

are approved with sone reluctance"); Brecher v. Brown, 235 |owa
627, 630-31, 17 N.W2d 377, 379 (1945) (recogni zi ng covenant not
to conpete is a restraint of trade). It is enforced so |ong as
t he covenant does not unreasonably restrain trade. "Covenants
not to conpete are unreasonably restrictive unless they are
tightly limted as to both tine and area.” Lemmon, 559 N W 2d

at 282; see Revere Transducers, Inc. v. Deere & Co., 595 N W 2d

751, 761 (lowa 1999).

The covenant in the contract between DTCA and Mercy
differs from a covenant not to conpete in two inportant
respects. First, as denn notes, she was not a party to it. She
did not agree that she would not go to work for Mercy. However
t hough unreasonable to her for this reason, the fact G enn was
not a party to the covenant does not make it nore or less of a
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restraint of trade. Second, the covenant is what the |owa
Supreme Court has referred to as an "anti-raiding provision."

Pat hol ogy Consultants v. Gratton, 343 N.W2d 428, 434 (lowa

1984). The | anguage in the covenant not to hire or recruit
bet ween DTCA and Mercy clearly indicates the intent of the
provision was to restrict each party from picking off the
enpl oyees of the other. An anti-raiding provision is not
subject to the sanme strict time and geographic area |imtations
as a covenant not to conpete. Id. It follows that the provision
is not per se unreasonable nor subject to any presunption of
unr easonabl eness as G enn argues.

The reasonabl eness of the restraint is to be determ ned
with reference to general principles. | owa has adopted the
"rule of reason" standard applied by the United States Suprene
Court in cases under the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 1, et seq. as

articulated in Chicago Bd. of Trade v. United States, 246 U.S.

231 (1918). State v. Cedar Rapids Bd. of Realtors, 300 N W 2d

127, 128 (lowa 1981). Reasonabl eness requires an exam nation of

[t]he facts peculiar to the business to
which the restraint is applied,; its
condition before and after the restraint was
i nposed; the nature of the restraint and its
effect, actual or probable. The history of
the restraint, the evil believed to exist,
the reason for adopting the particular
remedy, the purpose or end sought to be
at t ai ned.
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Id. (quoting Chicago Bd. of Trade, 246 U. S. at 238). The

bal ancing of the factors which go into the assessnment of

reasonableness is normally for the jury. Anmerican Ad

Managenment, Inc. v. GIE Corp., 92 F.3d 781, 791 (9th Cir. 1996);

see Continental T.V.., Inc. v. GIE Sylvania, Inc., 433 U S. 36,

49 (1977) ("the factfinder weighs all of the circunmstances of a
case in deciding whether a restrictive practice should be
pr ohi bit ed as I Mposi ng an unr easonabl e restraint on
conpetition").

Beyond the justification for the anti-raiding
provi sion, none of the relevant factors are addressed in the
sunmmary judgnent record. As aresult, the Court cannot concl ude
genuine issues of material fact are lacking and that the
provi sion was reasonable as a matter of law. Accordingly, the
notion for summary judgnent will be denied with respect to the

| owa Conpetition Law claim?

2 DTCA t akes a narrow vi ew of the anti-raiding provision
in this litigation, and contends that since the contract only
prevented Mercy fromrecruiting "present” DTCA enpl oyees, d enn
could have quit and gone to work for Mercy. Therefore, DTCA
argues, the contract was not a cause in fact of denn's
inability to obtain enployment with Mercy. The Court believes
causation is a disputed factual issue. |In Novenber and Decenber
1998 Mercy had asked for perm ssion to hire the DTCA enpl oyees.
DTCA did not give perm ssion, but in its communications wth
Mercy reserved the i ssue as a negotiating point. Mercy and DTCA
were in litigation at the tinme. It is by no neans clear that
DTCA at that tinme interpreted the anti-raiding provision as it
does now and the provision is not wthout anbiguity as it

(continued...)
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C. Tortious Interference with Prospective Contractual
Rel ati on

Plaintiff's final claim is that DTCA intentionally
interfered with her prospective contractual relationship with
Mercy. To recover on this claim plaintiff nust prove (1) the
exi stence of a prospective contractual relationship; (2) DTCA s
knowl edge of t hat prospective relationship; (3) DTCA' s
intentional and inproper interference with that relationship;
(4) that the interference caused the relationship to fail to

materialize and (5) damages. Preferred Marketing Associ ates Co.

v. Hawkeye National Life Ins. Co., 452 N.W2d 389, 396 (Ilowa

1990). Intent under this theory incorporates a requirenent that

DTCA acted "with the sole or predom nant purpose to injure or

financially destroy the plaintiff." Conpiano v. Hawkeye Bank &

Trust of Des Mines, 588 N.W2d 462, 466 (lowa 1999); Financial

Mar keti ng Services, Inc. v. Hawkeye Bank & Trust of Des Mines,

588 N. W 2d 450, 459 (lowa 1999).

As the argunments at hearing on the summary judgnent
motion indicate, there is no evidence in the summry judgnent
record which could | ead a reasonabl e factfinder to concl ude that

DTCA acted with the sole or predom nant purpose to financially

2(...continued)
relates to an enpl oyee who resigns in order to take enpl oynment
with Mercy. In the circunmstances as they then existed, the jury
could find that as a practical matter the anti-raiding provision
was a reason Mercy did not offer her a job.

19



injure or destroy plaintiff. The motion for summary judgnment
will be granted on this claim
| V.

For the foregoi ng reasons, defendant's notion is denied
in part and granted in part. The notion is granted with respect
to plaintiff's claim under the lowa blacklisting statute and
for tortious interference with a prospective contractual
relati onship. The nmotion is denied with respect to the |owa
Conpetition Law claim Trial remains as previously set.

I T IS SO ORDERED.

Dated this day of Septenber, 2000.

ROSS A. WALTERS
CHI EF UNI TED STATES MAG STRATE JUDGE
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